









The Future of Legal Services:

Changes and Challenges in the Delivery of Legal Services

November 10, 2014 State Bar of Michigan

Bibliography



FUTURE OF LEGAL SERVICES











BIBLIOGRAPHY | November 2014

Table of Contents

Core Resources	1
The Changing Demographics and Economics of the Profession	1
Falling law school enrollment	2
Impact of student loan debt on the profession	2
Moving the needle forward on diversity and inclusion	2
Unemployment and underemployment of young lawyers	
Economic Viability of Today's Law Firm Business Model	
Alternative Law Practice Structures	
Alternative Litigation Financing	3
Competition from Non-Lawyers	
Demand for Pricing Structure Revisions	3
Economic Viability of Solo and Small Firms	4
Globalization	4
International Business Interests and Local Law Firms	4
New Law Firm Models and Alternative Business Structures	4
Public Ownership of law firms and ABS	5
The Future for Today and Tomorrow's Lawyers	
Competition in the global marketplace	5
Public Ownership of law firms and ABS The Future for Today and Tomorrow's Lawyers	!

Educating new lawyers and reeducating old lawyers to serve	а
changing world	5
Non-lawyer practitioners and limited licensing	5
New models of dispute resolution	6
Regulatory rules in the context of multinational and	
multijurisdictional legal practice	6
Outsourcing	6
Relevance of the organized bar and attorney regulation	6
Public Access to the Courts/Access to Justice	7
Access for the poor	7
Business access	7
Ethics in the digital age	7
Finding a lawyer through technology	8
Increase in pro se litigants	8
Limited Scope Representation, Unbundling	8
Middle class access	8
Non-lawyer practitioners and limited licenses	8
Rural access/lawyer deserts	9
Specialized courts	0

CORE RESOURCES

ABA Commission on the Future of Legal Services

Judicial Crossroads Task Force Official Report PDF Digital Version

ABA Ethics 20/20 Work Products (relevant recommendations highlighted below)

Tomorrow's Lawyers, An Introduction to Your Future, Richard Susskind (book)

Futures: Transforming the Delivery of Legal Services in Canada

THE CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICS AND ECONOMICS OF THE PROFESSION

<u>Statistics | Section of Legal Education and</u> Admissions to the Bar, ABA

FALLING LAW SCHOOL ENROLLMENT

<u>A Blueprint for Change</u>, Henderson, Pepperdine Law Review, 2013

Amid Plummeting App Numbers, Law Schools Adapt To Economy, Yale Daily News, March 2013

<u>Cutting Law Schools</u>, Frank Wu, The Huffington Post, 2013

<u>Law School Enrollment Drop May Hit 5th Year, LSAT</u>
<u>Data Hints</u>, Law Dragon Campus, July 2014

Law school restructures debt as admissions fall, Global Legal Post, Oct. 2014 Legal Education: Rethinking the Problem, Reimagining the Reforms, Rhode, Pepperdine Law Review, 2013

Three Generations and Two Tiers: How Participation in Law School Clinics and the Demand for" Practice-Ready" Graduates Will Impact the Faculty Status of Clinical Law Professors, Berger, Washington University Journal of Law and Policy, 2014

What Ails the Law Schools?, Horwitz, Michigan Law Review, 2013

IMPACT OF STUDENT LOAN DEBT ON THE PROFESSION

ABA Task Force on the Financing of Legal Education, 2014

<u>Failing Law Schools, by Brian Z. Tamanaha: A Review</u>, Lempert, Contemp. Sociology, 2014

<u>Student Loan Debt in Bankruptcy: An Empirical</u>
<u>Assessment</u>, Austin, Suffolk University Law Review,
2014

Student-Debt Forgiveness Plans Skyrocket, Raising Fears Over Costs, Higher Tuition; Some Law Schools Advertise Their Own Plans to Cover Loan Repayments, Wall Street Journal, April 2014; reported in Tax Prof Blog Who Really Pays for Law Student Debt?, Harper, Belly of the Beast blog, April 2014

MOVING THE NEEDLE FORWARD ON DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

ABA Model Rule 5.5 and Practice Pending Admission

<u>Data and Diversity in the Canadian Justice</u> Community, Lyon, Sossin, 2013

Diversity & Inclusion, American Bar Association

Diversity & Inclusion, State Bar of Michigan

<u>The Diversity Crisis: Big Firms' Continuing Failure</u>, Triedman, American Lawyer, 2014

<u>Diversity in the Legal Profession: The Next Steps,</u>
<u>ABA Presidential Initiative Commission</u> on Diversity,
2010

An Empirical Analysis of Diversity in the Legal Profession, Nance, Madsen, Connecticut Law Review, 2014

<u>Inclusion Strategies to Eliminate Bias in the Legal</u>
<u>Profession</u>, ABA Law Practice Management Section,
White, 2010

A Primer on Diversity, Discrimination, and Equality in the Legal Profession or Who is Responsible for Pursuing Diversity and Why, Wald, Georgetown Journal of Legal Ethics, 2011

The Misuse of the Law School Admissions Test,
Racial Discrimination, and the De Facto Quota
System for Restricting African-American Access to
the Legal Profession, Nussbaumer - St. John's Law
Review, 2012

Shaping the Tributary: The Why, What, and How of Pipeline Programs to Increase Diversity in Legal Education and the Legal Profession, Rothstein, Journal of Law & Education, 2011

UNEMPLOYMENT AND UNDEREMPLOYMENT OF YOUNG LAWYERS

2013 ABA-Approved Law School Graduate
Employment Data, ABA, 2014; NALP vs. ABA Data:
Why Do They Vary?, NALP, 2014

Class of 2013 Bimodal Salary Curve, NALP, 2013

Economics of Law Practice Attorney Income & Billing Rates in Michigan, State Bar of Michigan, 2014

For Second Year in a Row New Grads Find More
Jobs, Starting Salaries Rise — But Overall
Unemployment Rate Rises with Historically Large
Graduating Class, NALP Press Release, June 2014

<u>Law school employment figures show class of 2013</u> <u>struggling to find work as attorneys</u>, MLive, April 2014

Report of the Task Force on the Law, the Economy and Underemployment Massachusetts Bar Association, 2012

Salary Distribution Curves 2006-2013, NALP, 2013

<u>Three Generations of US Lawyers: Generalists,</u>
<u>Specialists, Project Managers</u>, Henderson, Maryland
Law Review, 2011

ECONOMIC VIABILITY OF TODAY'S LAW FIRM BUSINESS MODEL

ALTERNATIVE LAW PRACTICE STRUCTURES

ABS Issues Paper, 2011

ALPS Discussion Draft, 2011

<u>Captive firms to smash status quo</u>, The Australian, 2013

Choice of Law & Alternative Law Practice Structures, 2011

Commission Co-Chairs' Statement, 2012

ALTERNATIVE LITIGATION FINANCING

A Market for Justice: A First Empirical Look at Third Party Litigation Funding, Abrams and Chen, 2012

Outside Investment in Law Firms (slideshow), Beaton, Clio Conference, Sept. 2014 <u>Third Party Litigation Funding</u>, U.S. Chamber of Commerce, Institute for Legal Reform, 2014

<u>Toward a Regulatory Framework for Third-Party</u>
<u>Funding of Third Party Funding of Litigation</u>, Hylton,
2013

White Paper on Alternative Litigation Financing filed with ABA House of Delegates, 2013

COMPETITION FROM NON-LAWYERS

An inside look at limited practice for nonlawyers in Washington and other states, Bar Leader, 2013

Reforming American Legal Education and Legal Practice: Rethinking Licensing Structures and the Role of Nonlawyers in Delivering and Financing Legal Services, Rhode, Legal Ethics, 2013

Washington State Limited License
Legal Technician Program: Enhancing Access to
Justice and Ensuring the Integrity of the Legal
Profession, Crossland and Littlewood, 2013

DEMAND FOR PRICING STRUCTURE REVISIONS

'Billable Hour' Under Attack, Wall Street Journal, 2009

The Business of Startup Law: Alternative Fee
Arrangements and Agency Costs in Entrepreneurial
Law, Boulden, Journal on Telecomm. & High
Technology Law, 2013

<u>Clients Define Value Billing – But Will They Accept</u> It?, ABA, 2013

An Empirical Study of Associate Satisfaction, Law Firm Culture, and the Effects of Billable Hour Requirements, Fortney, Texas Bar Journal, 2001

The Future of Big Law: Alternative Legal Service
Providers to Corporate Clients, Fordham Law
Review, 2014

Has the News of the Death of the Billable Hour Been Greatly Exaggerated?, ABA Litigation Section panel, 2013

In Defense of the Billable Hour: A Monitoring
Theory of Law Firm Fees, Choi, Journal of the Legal
Profession, 2014

<u>Law & reorder: legal industry solutions for</u> <u>restructure, retention, promotion & work/life</u> balance, Review, Wisconsin Lawyer, 2011

<u>Rivalry Among No-Frill Legal Services Heats Up,</u> WSJ, 2012 (subscription required)

The pressures of billable hours: lessons from a survey of billing practices inside law firms, Parker, University of St. Thomas Law Journal, 2013

<u>Seyfarth Shaw Says Six Sigma Method Has Cut Client</u> <u>Fees by Up to 50%, ABA Journal, 2009</u>

The Tyranny of the Billable Hour, NYT, 2013

ECONOMIC VIABILITY OF SOLO AND SMALL FIRMS

A Law Firm in Every Stop & Shop? (I Mean, Walmart), Liebel, 2014

<u>Is There a Future for Solos and Small Firms?</u>, Glover, 2014

<u>Personal Plight Legal Practice and Tomorrow's</u> <u>Lawyers</u>, Semple, Journal of the Legal Profession, 2014

Solos Are the Future?, Elefant, 2014

GLOBALIZATION

ABA Ethics 20/20: Admission by Motion, 2012

Creating An International Network Of Lawyer
Regulators: The 2012 International Conference of
Legal Regulators, LS Terry - The Bar Examiner, 2013

Global is Local, Terry, NCBP Annual Meeting, 2012 (slides)

The (in) effective regulation of incorporated legal practices: an Australian case study, Babacan, Di Iorio, Meade, International Journal of the Legal Profession, 2013

Legal Services Act 2007 - Legislation.gov.uk

Measuring the Impact of Reform, UK Legal Services Board

Qualified Lawyer Transfer Scheme (UK) 2014

Revised Draft Proposal on ABA Model Rule 1.6, 2012)

Revised Draft Proposal on ABA Model Rule 1.7: Choice of Rule Agreements for Conflicts of Interest, 2012

Trends And Challenges In Lawyer Regulation: The Impact Of Globalization And Technology, Terry, Mark and Gordon, Fordham Law Review, 2012

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS INTERESTS AND LOCAL LAW FIRMS

Globalization as Boundary-Blurring, International and Local Law Firms in China's Corporate Law Market, Liu, 2008.

<u>Globalization of Professional Service Firms</u>, Zhang, Harvard Law, 2008

NEW LAW FIRM MODELS AND ALTERNATIVE BUSINESS STRUCTURES

ABA Ethics 20/20: Discussion Paper on Alternative Law Practice Structures

ABA Ethics 20/20: Initial Draft Proposal Choice of Law and ALPS

Adapting to the New Legal Services Market: Can Law Firms Avoid Becoming a Comet?, King, Edwards, 2013

<u>Australian start-up lawyers open in London and New York</u>, Global Legal Post, 2014

Axiom Legal Services

<u>Keynote:</u> The Future of Big Law: Alternative Legal

<u>Service Providers to Corporate Clients</u>, Dzienkowski,

2014

Outside Investment in Law Firms (slideshow), Beaton, Clio Conference, Sept. 2014

The Future of Law: Who Will Perform It? Who Will Regulate It?, S Mayson, 2013

The rise and rise of the NewLaw business model, Beaton, 2014

<u>Towards the Law of Legal Services</u>, Perlman, Suffolk University Law School, 2015

When Lawyers Don't Get All the Profits: Non-Lawyer Ownership of Legal Services, Access, and Professionalism, Robinson, HLS Program on the Legal Profession Research, 2014

PUBLIC OWNERSHIP OF LAW FIRMS AND ABS

ABA Ethics 20/20: Initial Draft Proposal 1.7

ABA Ethics 20/20: Initial Draft Proposal 5.5(d)(3)

ABA Ethics 20/20: Outsourcing
NewLaw, New Rules, a conversation with George
Beaton, Richard Susskind, and Julian Jones
purchasable as e-book

THE FUTURE FOR TODAY AND TOMORROW'S LAWYERS

Be the Change, ABA (video)

Did You Know, Shift Happens, 2014 (video)

<u>Don't Underestimate Lawyers' Resistance to</u> <u>Change</u>, ABA Journal, 2012

A Glass Half Full Look at the Changes in the American Legal Market, Barton, International Review of Law and Economics, 2014

Ethics 20/20 Commission Settles on Recommendations on Outsourcing, Confidentiality, Foreign Lawyers, ABA Journal, 2011

<u>Futures: Transforming the Delivery of Legal Services</u> in Canada

Measuring the Impact of Reform, UK Legal Services Board

Nothing New Under the Sun: How the Legal Profession's Twenty-First Century Challenges Resemble Those of the Turn of the Twentieth Century, Pearce, Jenoff, Fordham Urban Law Journal, 2012

An Overview of the Legal Profession in the United States and How the Profession Recently Has Been

<u>Changing, and Its Future Prospects</u>, Johnstone, Yale Law, 2008

<u>The Twenty-First Century Lawyer's Evolving Ethical</u>
<u>Duty of Competence</u>, Perlman, The Professional
Lawyer, Volume 22, Number 4, 2014

COMPETITION IN THE GLOBAL MARKETPLACE

<u>Australian start-up lawyers open in London and New York,</u> The Global Post, 2014

International Trade in Legal Services and
Professional Regulation: A Framework for State Bars
Based on the Georgia Experience, ABA

Transnational Legal Practice (United States),

Year in Review, Terry, 2014

EDUCATING NEW LAWYERS AND REEDUCATING OLD LAWYERS TO SERVE A CHANGING WORLD

Enough about the Ills and Evils of Legal Education, LeDuc, 2012

<u>Law School Is Worth the Money</u>, New York Times, 2014

The Law-School Scam, The Atlantic, 2014

<u>Lawyer to Lawyer Mentoring Program</u>, Ohio Supreme Court, 2014

Online Court: Online Dispute Resolution And The Future Of Small Claims, Brian Pappas, UCLA Journal Of Law And Technology, 2008 (implications on ODR for education and importance of training future attorneys in this arena)

Task Force on the Future of Legal Education, ABA

State Bar of California Task Force on Admissions Regulation Reform: Phase I Proposals for a Competency Training Requirement, 2013

NON-LAWYER PRACTITIONERS AND LIMITED LICENSING

An inside look at limited practice for nonlawyers in Washington and other states, Bar Leader, 2013

New Roles For Non-Lawyers To Increase Access To Justice, Zorza & Udelf, 2014

Washington Limited License Legal Technician (LLLT, primary resource page

Washington State Limited License
Legal Technician Program: Enhancing Access to
Justice and Ensuring the Integrity of the Legal
Profession, Crossland and Littlewood, 2013

NEW MODELS OF DISPUTE RESOLUTION

@ Face Value? Nonverbal Communication & Trust
Development in Online Video-Based Mediation,
Ebner, Thompson, International Journal
of Online Dispute Resolution, 2014

<u>Designing a Global Consumer Online Dispute</u> <u>Resolution,</u> Northwestern, 2010

Designing and Implementing e-Justice Systems:
Some Lessons Learned from EU and
Canadian Examples, Lupo and Bailey, Technology,
Social Media and Law), 2014

eBay Resolution Center

<u>Getting Divorced Online: Procedural and Outcome</u> <u>Justice in Online Divorce Mediation</u>, Journal of Law and Family Studies, The Netherlands, 2012

<u>Leveraging the Wisdom of Crowds: The eBay</u> <u>Community Court and the Future of Online Dispute</u> <u>Resolution</u>, Northwestern, 2010

Mobile Mediation: How Technology is Driving the Globalization of ADR, Alexander, Hamline Journal of Public Law & Policy, 2006

Online Alternative Dispute Resolution and Why Law Schools Should Prepare Future Lawyers for the Online Forum, Goldberg, 2014

Online Court: Online Dispute Resolution And The Future Of Small Claims, Brian Pappas, UCLA Journal Of Law And Technology, 2008

Possibilities for Collaborative Law: Ethics and Practice of Lawyer Disqualification and Process Control in a New Model of Lawyering, Lande, 2003

REGULATORY RULES IN THE CONTEXT OF MULTINATIONAL AND MULTIJURISDICTIONAL LEGAL PRACTICE

ABA Ethics 20/20: Issues Paper Choice of Law in Cross Border Practice

ABA Ethics 20/20: Multijurisdictional Practice Issue Paper

ABA Model Rule on Pro Hac Vice Admission

ABA Ethics 20/20: Revised Draft Proposal
Pro Hac Vice
ABA Ethics 20/20: Final Revised Draft Proposal on
Admission by Motion

ABA Ethics 20/20: Revised Draft Proposal ABA
Model Rule 5.5
ABA Ethics 20/20: Revised Draft Proposal ABA
Model Rule for Registration of In-House Counsel

Legal Services Act 2007 - Legislation.gov.uk

OUTSOURCING

ABA Ethics 20/20: Outsourcing

<u>A Collaborative Model Of Offshore Legal</u>
<u>Outsourcing</u>, Robertson, Arizona State Law Journal,
2011

Ethics 20/20 Commission Settles on Recommendations on Outsourcing, Confidentiality, Foreign Lawyers, ABA Journal, 2011

RELEVANCE OF THE ORGANIZED BAR AND ATTORNEY REGULATION

<u>Bar Associations are Failing Lawyers</u>, Lawyerist, 2014

Clash of 20th Century Regulation with 21st Century Technology, Journal of Civil Rights and Economic Development, 2002

<u>Decline of law as an autonomous discipline: 1962-1987</u>, Posner, Harvard Law Review, 1987

<u>The Evolution of the Legal Services Market</u>, Furlong, 2012

The flood of US lawyers: natural fluctuation or professional climate change?, Green, International Journal of the Legal Profession, 2012

Helping Members Adapt to a Changing Profession, ABA Bar Services

Purveyors of Knowledge: How Bar Associations Will Become Key Players In The New Era Of Legal Education, ScholarLab 2014

<u>The Trouble with Lawyer Regulation</u>, Prof. James Moliterno, WSJ, 2013

<u>The Trouble with Lawyer Regulation</u>, Moliterno, Emory Law Journal, 2013

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE COURTS/ ACCESS TO JUSTICE

ACCESS FOR THE POOR

Access to Civil & Family Justice, A Roadmap for Change, Action Committee on Access to Justice in Civil and Family Matters, Ottawa, Canada, 2013

Access to Justice: The Emerging Consensus, Zorza, Judicature, January-February, 2011

The Access to Justice Sorting Hat – Towards a

System of Triage and Intake that Maximizes Access
and Outcomes, Zorza, Denver University Law
Review, 2012

Accessing Justice in the Contemporary USA:
Findings from the Community Needs and Services
Study, Sandefur, 2014

Blueprint for Justice, SBM Crossroads Access to Justice Committee, 2010

<u>Documenting the Justice Gap in Michigan</u>, State Bar of Michigan, Updated Spring 2012

Embracing Disruption: How Technological Change in the Delivery of Legal Services Can Improve Access to Justice, Brescia et al, 2014

Measuring the Impact of Reform, Consumers' Unmet Legal Needs, UK Legal Services Board

Observing Change, Singsen, Management Information Exchange Journal, Fall 2014

<u>Selected PPT Slides, Legal Futurism and Access to</u> <u>Justice</u>, 2014 CJI Kickoff, Rexer, Crowley

Some First Thoughts on Court Simplification: The Key to Civil Access and Justice Transformation, Zorza, 2013

Where We've Been, Where We're Going: A Look at the Status of the Civil Right to Counsel, and Current Efforts, Management Information Exchange Journal, John Pollack, Summer, 2012

BUSINESS ACCESS

<u>Business Courts and the Future of Arbitration</u>, Christopher R. Drahozal , University of Kansas School of Law, 2011

<u>Data on new court model indicate shorter time to</u> <u>resolve cases</u>, Crain's Detroit Business, October 28, 2014

London Court of International Arbitration, website

Michigan's Business Courts and Commercial Litigation: Past, Present and Future, Toering, Michigan Bar Journal, 2014

Renting Judges for Secret Rulings, NYT, Feb. 28, 2014

<u>The Steady Growth of Business Courts</u>, National Center for State Courts, 2011

ETHICS IN THE DIGITAL AGE

ABA Ethics 20/20: Model Rule 1.6

ABA Ethics 20/20: Technology & Client Development

ABA Ethics 20/20: Technology & Confidentiality

ABA Issue Paper Concerning Model Rule of
Professional Conduct 5.5 and the Limits of Virtual
Presence in a Jurisdiction, 2012

'Ethics 20/20's Successfully Achieved its Mission: It 'Protected, Preserved, and Maintained,' Moliterno, 2013

Face to Face Legal Services and Their Alternatives: Global Lessons from the Digital Revolution, Smith, Paterson – 2014

<u>The Fundamentals</u>, Podgers, ABA Journal, November, 2014

Will Virtual Offices Be Allowed?, New Jersey, 2012

FINDING A LAWYER THROUGH TECHNOLOGY

Accessing Justice in the Contemporary USA:
Findings from the Community Needs and Services
Study, Rebecca L. Sandefur, 2014

Embracing Disruption: How Technological Change in the Delivery of Legal Services Can Improve Access to Justice, Raymond H. Brescia et al

<u>Everyone, Anytime, Anywhere</u>, Glenn Rawdon, Management Information Exchange Journal, Fall, 2014

Report of the Summit on the Use of Technology to Expand Access to Justice, Legal Services Corporation, 2013

Sample of current "Find a Lawyer" and *pro se* online resources: <u>Avvo.com</u>, <u>LegalZoom.com</u>, <u>MichiganLegalHelp.org</u>, <u>Rocketlawyer.com</u>, <u>SBM</u> <u>Member Directory</u>, <u>Yelp.com</u>

<u>Using Technology to Enhance Access to Justice</u>, Harvard Journal of Law & Technology, Volume 26, Number 1, Fall 2012, Rexer, et al

INCREASE IN PRO SE LITIGANTS

Addressing Twin Crises in the Law: Underserved Clients and Underemployed Lawyers, Holbrook, Hornok, Utah Law Review, 2014

<u>The Pro Se Phenomenon</u>, Swank, BYU Journal of Public Law, 2004

Regulating Electronic Legal Support Across State and National Boundaries, Robertson, Akron Law Review, 2014

Resources to Assist Self-Represented Litigants: A
Fifty-State Review of the "State of the Art,"
Greacen, for MI Solutions on Self-Help Task Force,
2011

CA Cost-Benefit Analysis Where Court Users Have
Access to Self-Help Services
Turner v Rogers: Improving Due Process for the
Self-Represented, Zorza, NCSC, 2012

Michigan Legal Help Program:
English FAQ:
Spanish FAQs

MLH Self-Help Centers
Sample MLH SHC Brochure (Oakland County)

LIMITED SCOPE REPRESENTATION, UNBUNDLING

"20 Things Judicial Officers Can Do to Encourage Attorneys to Provide Limited Scope
Representation," Limited Scope Representation
Comm., California Comm'n on Access to Justice,
2003

ABA Standing Comm. on the Delivery of Legal Servs., An Analysis of Rules That Enable Lawyers to Serve Self-Represented Litigants, 2014

ABA Standing Comm. on the Delivery of Legal Servs., Unbundling Fact Sheet, 2011

Michigan Informal Ethics opinion 348 on Unbundled Legal Services, 2010

Roadmap for Implementing a Successful Unbundling Program, Talia, 2005

MIDDLE CLASS ACCESS

<u>American Bar Association, Various Resources:</u> Modest Means Programs

ABA Modest Means Task Force, Handbook on Limited Scope Legal Assistance, 2003

Accessing Justice in the Contemporary USA:
Findings from the Community Needs and Services
Study, Rebecca Sandefur, 2014

Reinventing the Practice of Law: Emerging Models to Enhance Affordable Legal Services, ABA Standing Committee on the Delivery of Legal Services. 2014

NON-LAWYER PRACTITIONERS AND LIMITED LICENSES

An inside look at limited practice for nonlawyers in Washington and other states, Bar Leader, 2013

Narrowing the "Justice Gap": Roles for Nonlawyer Practitioners, New York City Bar Report, 2013

New Roles for Non-Lawyers to Increase Access to Justice, Udell, Zorza, Fordham Urban Law Journal, 2013

Reforming American Legal Education and Legal Practice: Rethinking Licensing Structures and the Role of Nonlawyers in Delivering and Financing Legal Services, Rhode, Legal Ethics, 2013

Washington State Bar Association Limited License Homepage Washington State Limited License
Legal Technician Program: Enhancing Access to
Justice and Ensuring the Integrity of the Legal
Profession, Crossland and Littlewood, 2013

RURAL ACCESS/LAWYER DESERTS

<u>Law Stretched Thin: Access to Justice in Rural</u>
<u>America</u>, Pruitt and Showman, South Dakota Law
Review, Vol. 59, 2014

Number of Attorneys per County, Michigan

Number of Attorneys per County, Nebraska

<u>Rural Practice Initiative</u>, Nebraska State Bar Association

<u>Internet Representation Project,</u> Legal Services of Northern Michigan, 2014

SPECIALIZED COURTS

Medication assisted treatment in US drug courts:
Results from a nationwide survey of availability,
barriers and attitudes, Journal of Substance Abuse
Treatment. Volume 44, Issue 5, May–June 2013
(subscription required)

<u>Michigan Problem-Solving Courts</u>, Michigan One Court of Justice

<u>Problem-Solving Courts and Pragmatism</u>, Richard C. Boldt, Problem-Solving Courts and Pragmatism, 73 Md. L. Rev. 1120 (2014)

A testable theory of problem solving courts:

Avoiding past empirical and legal failures,
International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 2010
(abstract)

What Makes A Court Problem-Solving? Universal Performance Indicators for Problem-Solving Justice, Center for Court Innovation, 2010



Momentum

Direction

Leadership